CONTRACT QUESTION MAP

WHAT LAW APPLIES? Common law or UCC?

1. Definitions: 

a. Goods UCC 2.105(1): things that are moveable & tangible at the time they are identified with the contract (not money, services, real property)

b. Specifically includes specially manufactured goods, so [paining] not a hybrid.

Sale: UCC 2.106(1): passage of title from a buyer to seller for a price.

2. Test:

a. Predominate purpose: Look at whole K: is it predominately for goods or for services or intangibles? Less protection to consumers. Consider fairness.

i. Circumstances of transaction

ii. Relative value of sale and non-sale aspects of the contract

iii. Language used by the parties

iv. Reasonable expectations of the parties.

v. Commercial context.

b. Gravaman Test: Look at part of the K in question. Is it related to goods or services? More consumer protection

3. UCC generally:

UCC Article-1: 1-102 

(1) This Act shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purposes and policies.

(2) Underlying purposes and policies of this Act are:

(a) to simplify, clarify and modernize the law governing commercial transactions
(b) to permit the continued expansion of commercial practices through custom, usage and agreement of parties
(c) to make uniform the law among the various jurisdictions
UCC 1-103: common law applies unless displaced by code

IS THERE A CONTRACT?

1. Definitions: 

a. Contract: An exchange relationship created by agreement with at least one promise that is enforceable.
b. Objective Test: Intent to make an offer is determined from the perspective of a reasonable person in the position of an offeree. It must justify a reasonable understanding that the power of acceptance is conferred on the offeree. Manifestations of Assent are interpreted from the standpoint of a reasonable person in the position of the party to whom the manifestation was made.
c. Offer (R2): Manifestation of willingness to enter into a bargain so made as to justify another person in understanding that her assent to that bargain is invited & will conclude it. 
d. Ad/solicitation: Is an offer when it would lead a reasonable person to believe that an offer was intended. Must be clear & definite & leave no room for negotiations. Look at: omits significant terms? Not directed at a particular person? Relationship of parties & common practices & trade usages. Higher bar for advertisers. 

e. Acceptance: Oferee’s manifestation of assent: (1) accepts terms (2) manifests this agreement to the offer in the manner & time prescribed; (3) intends to be bound

2. Considerations:

a. Contract language & structure

i. Written terms have more weight on standard forms: however, can’t use this rule to determine if a K exists. Only if there is a dispute over the terms. 

ii. Use common meaning of words, favor broader interpretations. 

b. Experience and custom

c. Past conduct

d. Negotiations

3. EVALUATING A CONTRACT UNDER COMMON LAW

Does the Statute of Frauds Apply?
a. Is this K subject to the SOF? 

(1) sale of land or the transfer of an interest in land

(2) K that cannot be performed within 1 year from the time of their execution.

· May this be completed in 1 year: if it was completed in less than a year would that breach the K?

(3) K for the sale of goods (over $500) see below.

No: the K is enforceable even if it is not in writing; Yes—go to (b)

b. Is there a signed writing in a form sufficient to satisfy the statute? 


No: K not enforceable unless exception (c) applies. Yes: K is enforceable

c. Do any recognized exceptions to the SOF apply?
 


(1) Part Performance exception


d. Notes:



a. Courts are wary of applying the statute rigidly to sincere oral contracts

b. Preliminary issue. If ( wins, still must assert K.



c. Failure to comply with SOF means K is unenforceable—not invalid.

b. Courts use loose interpretation b/c statute makes no sense.
Is there an offer? Elements: (1) A communication (2) Indicate desire to enter into a K (propose terms of exchange); (3) directed at some person or group; (4) invite acceptance; (5) offeror intends to be committed upon acceptance. 

Has the offer expired? 

a. If not duration not specified, must be accepted in a reasonable time
b. If ambiguous, consider nature of transaction, relationship of parties, custom, means of communication used to make offer & stability of the market. (work/week days). 

c. Other methods of expiration: 

i. Rejection

ii. Counteroffer 

iii. Revocation (effective once communicated).

1. Direct revocation: Offeree must receive. Receipt: notice becomes available so that if acting reasonably the offeree would be aware of its contents.

2. Indirect revocation: offeror takes action clearly inconsistent with the continued intent to enter into a K, & the offeree obtains reliable information of this action. 

Is there Acceptance? 

a. Did the offeree accept the terms? General rule is that acceptance must correspond to the offer. A response at variance, may still be an acceptance if the intent to K is apparent & the variations are not material (terms v. K). More leeway with standard forms b/c people don’t read them. 

b. Preliminary & Incomplete Agreements
i. Omission

1. If key terms so uncertain (K silent on key disputed term) & no basis to decide whether K breached, no K: even if intended b/c no meeting of the minds.

2. Could also mean parties agreed to negotiate further

Interpretation: Different interpretations possible.  While it is ok for courts to fill in gaps, it is not ok for them to decide essential terms (must decide what are essential terms). 

ii. Deliberately Deferred Agreement

1. General rule is “agree to agree’ is legally meaningless: no K until terms are settled.

2. In some situations, although no K, parties may have objectively agreed to negotiate in good faith, though some courts think this too indefinite to be enforced


3. If deferred agreement relates to central term & can’t interpret intent, no K.


4. Parties could decide on formula or external source or standard.

iii. Agreements to Record in writing: When parties reach an oral K and agree to memorialize in writing & one party breaks out. Could mean:

1. Writing was a formality: intended K to arise immediately upon concluding oral K.

2. Oral agreement not yet K: did not intend to be bound until details settled in writing.

3. B/c detailed terms unresolved, no K. However, committed to negotiate in good faith. Courts reluctant to embrace duty to negotiate. 

c. Did the offeree manifest this agreement in the manner & time prescribed?

i. Procedure:

1. Is the procedure mandatory?  Must be adhered to.

2. Is no procedure specified? Must accept w/in a reasonable time & by any mode that is reasonable. 

3. Is procedure specified, but not exclusive? Response must be consistent with and provide equal protection to the stated mode. Reasonable: terms of offer, custom, circumstances. Ask: Is this equivalent? 

4. Is mail a permissive mode of acceptance?

a. Does the mailbox rule apply?

ii. Acceptance by promise or performance?

1. Performance as the exclusive or permissive mode of acceptance:

a. When not specified can be by promise or performance.

b. Communication of acceptance by performance: when acceptance by performance is invited, no notification is necessary unless offeree has reason to know that offeror has no way to learn of performance w/ reasonable promptness.

c. If performance cannot be accomplished instantaneously, ask:

i. Can this offer be accepted by promise?

ii. When acceptance by performance is permissive, then commencement is an implied promise to complete.

iii. When performance is exclusive, then commencement creates an option in favor of offeree. To exercise option, offeree must complete performance in required time to impose duty on offeror. 

iv. Preparation for performance ( commencement (fuzzy)

2. Promise as the exclusive or permissive mode of acceptance:

a. If accepted by performance: offeree has duty to notify offeror when performance is not directly rendered or offeror has not prompt & reliable means of learning of it.

b. Reverse unilateral K: When offeree accepts by promise, but offeror’s performance occurs & is completed at the instant of K formation.

d. Did the offeree manifest intent to be bound?

i. Inadvertent manifestation as acceptance: performance indicating acceptance when offeree did not intend one. Subjective intent may be too compelling to disregard. Example:

4. EVALUATING CONTRACT UNDER UCC

a. Definitions:

i. UCC 2-104(1) Merchant: 

1. Deals in goods of that kind (determined in relation to tx)

2. By his occupation he represents that he has knowledge or skill peculiar to the practices or goods involved in the transaction.

3. He employs an intermediary with that knowledge or skill so that the intermediary’s expertise is attributable to him.

ii. Materiality: relates to an important aspect (goes to the heart) of the transaction. UCC 2-207 (comments): a material alteration would cause “surprise and hardship if incorporated without the express awareness of the other party.” : not reasonably expected & severe impact.
iii. UCC  1-201 (39) Signed: “’Signed’ includes any symbol executed or adopted by a party with present intention to authenticate a writing.”
Does the Statute of Frauds Apply?
This is a sale of goods for o/ $500. UCC requires a written memorial of a K. If no written memorial exists, the K is unenforceable unless one of the exceptions applies. The elements of UCC:.
a. UCC 2-201: K for the sale of goods for the price of $500 is not enforceable unless:

(1) there is some writing sufficient to indicate a K [was made] …and signed by the party against whom enforcement is sought… A writing is not insufficient b/c it omits or incorrectly states a term agreed upon but the K is not enforceable under this paragraph beyond the quantity of goods shown in actual writing.”

(2) Between merchants if w/in a reasonable time a writing in confirmation of the K and sufficient against the sender is received & the party receiving it has reason to know its contents, it satisfies the requirements of subsection (1) against such party unless written notice of objection to its contents is given within 10 days after it is received.
(3) A K which does not satisfy the requirements of subsection (1) but which is valid in other respects is enforceable:


(a) if the goods are to be specially manufactured for the buyer and are not suitable for sale to others in the ordinary course of the seller’s business and the seller before notice of repudiation is received and under circumstances which reasonably indicate that the goods are for the buyer, has made either a substantial beginning of the manufacture or commitments for procurement; or


(b) if the party against whom enforcement is sought admits in his pleading, testimony or otherwise in court that a K for sale was made, but the K is not enforceable under this provision beyond the quantity of goods admitted, (admission in litigation) or


(c) with respect to goods for which payment has been made and accepted or which have been received & accepted. (part payment or delivery)

Offer & Acceptance: 

a. UCC 2-204 & UCC 2-206 provide a flexible approach to offer & acceptance, which are otherwise subject to the general provisions  of common law UCC 1-103
b. UCC 2-204: Says a K made be made in “any manner sufficient to show agreement.” The K will not fail for indefiniteness if the conduct of the parties recognizes the existence of the K & there is a reasonably certain basis for giving a remedy. 

c. UCC 2-206: An offer to make a K will be construed as inviting acceptance in any manner & medium reasonable under the circumstances.

d. Offer/Acceptance for shipment of goods:

iv. UCC2-206 (1)(b):  An order or other offer to buy goods for prompt or current shipment shall be construed as inviting acceptance either by a prompt promise to ship or by the prompt or current shipment of conforming or non-conforming goods, but such a shipment of non-conforming goods doesn’t constitute an acceptance if the seller seasonably notifies the buyer tha the shipment is offered only as an accommodation to the buyer.

Has the offer expired? : Evaluate using common law unless, performance is a reasonable mode of acceptance:

a. UCC 2-206: Where the beginning of a requested performance is a reasonable mode of acceptance, an offeror who is not notified of acceptance within a reasonable time may treat the offer as having lapsed before acceptance.

Is there Acceptance?
a. Use common law unless response has terms at variance w/ offer or if parties acted without a K:
b. UCC 2-207 Additional Terms In Acceptance & Confirmation

(1) A definite and seasonable expression of acceptance or a written confirmation which is sent w/in a reasonable time operates as an acceptance even though it states terms additional to or different from those offered or agreed upon, unless acceptance is expressly made conditional on assent to the additional or different term.

· Absent a clear indication that a counteroffer was intended, court should treat response as an acceptance  & those terms at variance as proposals.
· Not an O/A problem if confirmation contains different terms than what was agreed upon at time of contracting. 
· If parties not merchants, analysis stops here unless they perform.
· Is term too different? :Look at how important the term is & if this term specific to this transaction or is it a general term
(2) The additional terms are to be construed as proposals for additions to the K. Between merchants such terms become part of the K unless:


(a) The offer expressly limits acceptance to the terms of the offer


(b) They materially alter it. 

(c) Notification of objection has already been given or is given within a reasonable time after notice of them is received.

· Apply if response = acceptance w/ additional terms that are proposals. 
· Additional terms only come in if meet all (a)-(c) requirements. 
· Narrow, terms usually do not come in. 
· Term can be material & not make response a counteroffer. 
(3) When there is no K but both parties perform anyhow, then K terms are those which the communications agree, supplemented by UCC.

Options and Firm Offers under the UCC

      C. UCC 2-205


     Abolishes consideration requirement in some circumstances.

· A signed writing (if form provided by offeree, must be signed by offeror)

· By a merchant (the offeror)

· Which by its terms provides assurance that offer will be held open. If terms do not specify duration of option, duration is reasonable & not to exceed three months.

Promissory Estoppel: UCC provides that general principles of common law supplement UCC unless excluded or incompatible. Under common law, the doctrine of PE could apply here. 

Consideration: Exclusive Dealings, Output Requirements Ks under UCC 2-306

1) A term measuring quantity by the output of the seller or the requirements of the buyer means such o/r as may occur in good faith, except no quantity … disproportionate to any estimate or to any normal prior o/r that may be tendered or demanded.

2) [A]greement by either the seller or they buyer for exclusive dealings … imposes, unless otherwise agreed, an obligation by the seller to use best efforts to supply the goods and by the buyer to use best efforts to promote the sale. 
5. CONSIDERATION

· Only an issue when there is an outstanding performance to be enforced.

· If an offer is made and accepted, there is no consideration problem.

· Not an issue with unquestionable donative promises & commercial exchange

· D. Prof. Fuller: Formal functions: Evidentiary, Cautionary, Channelling (objective basis to determine if promise is contractual). Substantive: Don’t enforce gift promises b/c not equitable

A. Elements: Restatement 2nd:

1. Promises/performances must be bargained for

2. Bargain: sought by promisor & given by promise in exchange for the promise/performance(They must induce each other (vs. conditional gift)

3. Performance may be: 

a. An act other than a promise, or

b. A forbearance, or

c. The creation modification or destruction of a legal relation

4. The return promise/performance may be given to the promisor or to some other person. It may be given by promisee or some other person.

B. What Suffices as Consideration?

1. Court doesn’t consider adequacy unless nominal/sham

a. Disparity results from underhanded bargaining or justifiable mistake

b.  Policies to protect autonomy vs. security when one reneges b/c of bad decision

2. “Pre-existing” duty ( Consideration: No detriment if already obliged or that something is already forbidden. Only applies if promise is completely encompassed by the pre-existing duty (new detriment).

i. For duties owed to promisor, not to society or 3rd party

ii. Exception for public officials (policy: corruption/favoritism) 

iii. Policy: protect against coerced modifications.

· Can evade with addition of minor new detriment

· Inc. changes that are legitimately agreed to (autonomy), such as w/ unforeseen difficulties.

iv. Courts will stretch to find new detriment if believe modification legitimate.

3. Past performance ( consideration. Although the detriment induced the promise, it was not induced by the promise. 
4. Settlement Agreements (chronic area of dispute): 

a. Frivolous defense: I’ll pay the $ I owe you if you drop the suit

b. Frivolous claim: forbearance in pursing a patently invalid claim does not constitute consideration even if bargained for. 

c. Restatement 2nd: 74 Settlement of Claims:

1) Forbearance to assert or the surrender of a claim or defense which proves to be invalid is not consideration unless:

a. The claim or defense is in fact doubtful b/c of uncertainty to the facts or law [good faith] OR,

b. … party believes that the claim or defense may be fairly determined to be valid [reasonable]

2) The execution of a written instrument surrendering a claim or defense…is consideration if the execution…is bargained for even though he is not asserting a claim or defense or believes one exists.
3. “Mutuality of obligation:” Concerned with party who is enforcing the K; trend to enforce if seriously made even if mutuality of obligation is lacking. Not a separate doctrine: just says must be real promises. 

a. Performance without obligation: mutual promises are not required for consideration. 

b. Conditional promises: Unless condition comes to pass, promise not enforceable. Iacono v. Lyons (233) (implied promise to play). This could also have been seen as conditional gift. 

i. Not really a promise if 1) impossible condition or 2) too much discretion. 

c. Party’s performance discretionary

i. Courts sometimes stretch to find consideration where discretionary promises make commercial sense by implying an obligation to exercise discretion in “good faith” or reasonably.

ii. Satisfaction clause: Matei v. Hopper (235)

d. Exclusive Dealings, Output Requirements Ks under UCC 2-306

1) A term measuring quantity by the output of the seller or the requirements of the buyer means such o/r as may occur in good faith, except no quantity … disproportionate to any estimate or to any normal prior o/r that may be tendered or demanded.

2) [A]greement by either the seller or they buyer for exclusive dealings … imposes, unless otherwise agreed, an obligation by the seller to use best efforts to supply the goods and by the buyer to use best efforts to promote the sale. 

OPTIONS & FIRM OFFERS
A. Option Contract: Promise to keep offer open supported by consideration: can’t revoke. 

· Original offer remains if a) offeree rejects offer or makes counteroffer, and b) offer continues if offeror dies or losses legal capacity.


1. Consideration compensates offeror for the risk he assumes when he commits to keep 
offer open. 


Notes on interpretation: Courts more lenient on finding consideration. Less suspicious of 
“nominal” or “sham” consideration. Mere recital of consideration may be effective 
(saying there was consideration when in fact none was exchanged). Policy is that option 
contracts serve important commercial purposes by allowing offeree to deliberate without 
fear that offer will be revoked. Also, option contracts are made at the beginning of the 
bargaining process, which may make finding formal consideration difficult. 

B. Promissory Estoppel as basis for option contract
1. Especially relevant where sole means of acceptance is through performance, but performance cannot be accomplished instantaneously.

2. Rest. 2nd §45: creates an option K once the offeree begins (or tenders) the requested performance.

3. Subcontractors: 

· Use of bid ( acceptance b/c not intended as one. 

· Also, bid ( option K b/c no consideration

· PE best basis for remedy. Implied promise with an intent to induce (commercial). SubK has a stake in Ks reliance on bid. 


Examples:

· Drenned v. Star Paving: Subcontractor’s bid is an implied promise enforceable under a theory of PE (consideration substitute). Promise made with intent to induce, inducement reasonable, injustice only remedied by enforcement of K. [Not a K b/c use of bid not acceptance of offer (not intended as such); not an option K b/c no consideration given to keep offer open.] 

· Pavel: acknowledges that danger of creating option under PE, is that contractor can speculate against subcontractor’s bid. Court says that once we create an option K under PE, you must accept bid of subcontractor if you get the job (this is an injustice remedy). You loose option if you bid shop or wait too long. 
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